2017

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Jacquan David Wilson,  
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

## **INTRODUCTION**

This appeal involves the failure of trial counsel to render effective assistance of counsel by failing to object to and request that the court preclude the State from playing jail phone call recordings for the jury's consideration. Mr. Wilson should prevail on appeal because trial counsel's failure allowed the jury to consider statements that had little or no relevance to the central issues and any relevance was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading the jury.<sup>1</sup>

Further, this appeal involves trial counsel's failure to request a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of attempted manslaughter. Mr. Wilson should prevail on this issue because trial counsel's failure precluded the jury from considering the warranted lesser included offense under the facts and circumstances of this case.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to and request that the State be precluded from playing the jail calls between Mr. Wilson and V.N. for the jury's consideration.

Standard of Review: To make such a showing, a defendant must show, first, that counsel rendered a deficient performance, falling below an objective standard of reasonable professional judgment, and, second, that counsel's performance was prejudicial. *Bundy v.*

---

<sup>1</sup>Jurisdiction is proper with this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

*DeLand*, 763 P.2d 803 (Utah 1988). The appellate court reviews such a claim as a matter of law. *State v. Robertson*, 2005 UT App 419, ¶ 5, 122 P.3d 895; *State v. Maestas*, 1999 UT 32, ¶ 20, 984 P.2d 376; *State v. Strain*, 885 P.2d 810, 814 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

*Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review*: Issues involving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel constitute an exception to the preservation rule and as such may be raised for the first time on appeal.

2. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to request a jury instruction on the lesser included offense of attempted manslaughter.

*Standard of Review*: See Standard of Review for Issue #1 above.

*Preservation of Issue Citation or Statement of Grounds for Review*: Issues involving claims of ineffective assistance of counsel constitute an exception to the preservation rule and as such may be raised for the first time on appeal.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. *The Charges***

By Information filed November 25, 2015, Jacquan David Wilson was charged with Attempted Murder, a first-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (R. 1-

2). The Probable Cause Statement of the Information stated the following:

1. On November 24, 2015, the defendant went to a residence in Layton, Utah. The defendant had previously resided at that residence for a couple of months with the victim. The defendant and victim had a verbal altercation that escalated. They went outside during the argument.

2. The victim's father heard the argument, and then heard the victim cry out that he had been stabbed. The father went to where the victim was lying on the ground and saw the defendant leaving the area in a vehicle.
3. The victim had been stabbed six times with a sharp object. He was transported to the hospital. The victim suffered severe injuries from the stabbing and required life-saving measures at the hospital.

(*Id.*).

On February 5, 2016, the parties appeared for a preliminary hearing (R. 25). Following that hearing, the court found probable and bound the case over for trial (R. 192:14-18). Mr. Wilson pleaded not guilty (R. 399:20-22; R. 30).

By Amended Information filed February 10, 2017, the State – in addition to Attempted Murder – charged Mr. Wilson with Obstructing Justice, a second-degree felony, in violation Utah Code Ann. § 76-8-306 (R. 210-11).

B. *A Friendship Gone Awry*

On November 21, 2015, Mr. Wilson and A.P., a female acquaintance, visited D.H. at D.H.'s house, and informed him that T.D., Mr. Wilson's girlfriend, was pregnant with his child (R. 715-16). During the visit, D.H. asked Mr. Wilson to return the jeans he had borrowed (R. 718:19-20).

The next day, D.H. went to T.D.'s house to retrieve his jeans (R. 718-19). T.D.'s roommate informed D.H. that T.D. might be at work (R. 719:13-14).

On Monday, November 23, 2015, T.D. initiated a text with D.H. in response to his dropping by her house and – in the process – they discussed her pregnancy (R. 721-22). D.H. congratulated her on the pregnancy and encouraged her not to get an abortion (*Id.*; R. 641:13-21). In addition, D.H. informed her that Mr. Wilson may not be the person that she thinks he is (R. 651-52).

On November 24, 2015, D.H. communicated with T.D. and expressed frustration that Mr. Wilson had not returned the jeans – stating that he was “[h]otter than hell’s flames.” (R. 727:14-18). Within the hour, T.D. communicated to D.H. that she and Mr. Wilson would come by D.H.’s house and return the pants (R. 728:4-12).

Mr. Wilson arrived at the front door of D.H.’s house about 5:00 p.m. that day to return the jeans (R. 629-33; R. 728:15-21). Mr. Wilson handed D.H. a plastic bag with the pants, which D.H. dropped on the floor (R. 729:5-20). An argument – laced with profanity ensued – at which point they moved outside to the porch (R. 730-31).

Mr. Wilson looked at D.H. and said, “fuck you” (R. 732:7). D.H. responded by saying that he was “going to be a real fuck nigga right then and there” and show T.D. every “bit of validation” of what he had been doing with other women for the last two months (R. 732:7-18).

D.H. pushed Mr. Wilson out of the way and moved quickly and aggressively from the porch to the car where T.D. sat in the driver’s seat (R. 654:6-13; 657:13-18). Watching the heated exchange, T.D. became afraid as the argument quickly moved from the porch to

the car (R. 657:22-24). T.D. – who froze with fear as D.H. entered the car through the open passenger door – “thought [D.H.] was reaching for [her], like he was going to hurt [her] or something.” (R. 657:3-6; R. 656:20-22; R. 688:20-24; R. 699:1-4).

As D.H. entered the car, Mr. Wilson stabbed him on the left shoulder, back area (R. 735-36). Mr. Wilson then reached over D.H. with his left hand, stood him up, and continued to stab him (R. 736-37). After being stabbed four times, D.H. slammed Jacquan against the car and as they rotated, Mr. Wilson stabbed D.H. again in the right arm (R. 737-40). D.H. turned and faced Mr. Wilson and then crossed his hands and kicked Mr. Wilson as he fell on his back (R. 740-41). Mr. Wilson – at about the same time – stabbed D.H. in the face on the left cheek below the eye (R. 742-43).

Mr. Wilson froze with the knife in hand, looking in the direction of the house (R. 744:9-18). After D.H. cried out two times, D.H.’s father exited the garage, seeing Mr. Wilson standing next to D.H. (R. 745-46). Mr. Wilson then jumped in the car and they drove away (R. 744-45).

D.H.’s father attended to D.H., discovering that he had been stabbed in the back (R. 638-39; R. 745-46). While retrieving his keys and wallet from the house, he picked up a taser that was located on the concrete not far from D.H. (R. 639:17-22). He recognized that

the taser belonged to D.H. (R. 644:2-8).<sup>2</sup> D.H.'s father loaded D.H. in the car and transported him to the hospital (R. 746-47).

C. *Jury Trial*

The parties appeared for the four-day trial on September 25, 2017 (R. 405). During opening statements, the State told the jury that they would hear a jail phone call that Mr. Wilson made on January 18, 2015 – about two and a half months after the stabbing (R. 611:18-20). The prosecutor told the jury they would hear Mr. Wilson in that phone call

tell a friend that [D.H.] had texted [T.D.] and told her that she should keep the baby and there were things that she needed to know about Jacquan. You'll hear the defendant say, quote, so I'm already in my mind like okay I'm not going to let him F me up because I'm not about to let that happen. He wants confrontation, I'm hoping I can drop off his shit. I already know how I am. If he touches me, I'm going to try to kill him.

(R. 611-12). The prosecutor informed the jury that they would also hear Mr. Wilson in a jail phone call state, "I'm not him. I really put people down, y'all. I have the capacity to kill somebody, you understand, and think nothing of it." (R. 613:20-23).

At trial, T.D., Mr. Wilson's girlfriend, testified on behalf of the State that she provided both an oral and written statement to police (R. 670-75). According to her oral statement, D.H. pushed Mr. Wilson and "started running towards the car, towards me. And

---

<sup>2</sup>D.H.'s father saw D.H. sitting on the couch playing with the taser before Mr. Wilson arrived (R. 644:10-25). Before Mr. Wilson came to the house, D.H. pulled the taser off the charger and put it in his hoodie pocket (R. 111:10-12).



I just like froze.” (R. 673-3-4). According to her testimony on direct, that was not an honest statement (R. 674-75).

T.D.’s written statement indicated that D.H. had jumped in the car as if he was going to hurt her (R. 675:23-24). She testified on direct that she didn’t think that “now” (675-76). However, on cross-examination, T.D. testified that she still considered the written statement to be “a correct statement.” (R. 698:17-19). T.D. further testified that she was also frightened because D.H. had previously shown up at her place unannounced and entered her room without permission (R. 699:12-15). According to T.D., she had “no idea what [D.H.] was capable of.” (*Id.* at 16-17). Finally, she testified that the police “didn’t like the first story [she] told them and thought she was lying to them” (R. 706:10-16). The police then told her she needed to tell them the “correct story” – which she then provided (R. 706:11-22).

On day three of the jury trial, Craig Webb, Chief of Investigations, testified concerning the Davis County Jail system for inmate calls (R. 1153 *et seq.*). He also testified concerning numerous calls between Mr. Wilson and his friend, V.N. (R. 1157:19-21). When – in the course of his testimony – Chief Webb mentioned that Mr. Wilson had made statements about “eliminating people” during a particular call, defense counsel objected and the following sidebar occurred:

COUNSEL:	In thinking about these phone calls, and I have heard them, it dawns on me if this individual is not going to be called to testify, I think that what is going to be
----------	--

played is highly prejudicial to the jury. It shows character of my client in such that he hasn't put himself out there at this point to testify as to his own character. We think that they're unduly prejudicial at this point for the jury to hear a phone conversation between my client and another individual who is not a party to this proceeding. At this point that would be my objection to any call involving this individual.

THE COURT: I don't think that's specific enough for me to be able to sustain an objection. I think I heard him say some of this, talk about eliminating people. Is that correct?

THE STATE: That's correct, uh-huh.

THE COURT: What is the relevance to this case about that? It doesn't completely bear, does it, on the facts on what occurred?

THE STATE: It goes to the fact that he, in this case he makes a comparison to himself and the victim and he's upset with the fact that the victim went to the police and the defendant –

THE COURT: The fact that who went to the police?

THE STATE: The victim, [D.H.] went to the police.

THE COURT: Okay.

THE STATE: And that he – because if he went to the police, he has no problem eliminating individuals who go to the police because he's upset. So, you know, and I think it shows that the defendant knew that – it



shows kind of his state of mind during this time where he's talking about comparing himself to the defendant.

THE COURT: I just don't see what relevance, candidly, that has. And I'm just going to be frank with you at this point. I'm not ruling, I'm just telling you I don't see the relevance of that to what occurred here, which is what this [is] about. And it does seem to be really highly prejudicial in term of interjecting maybe some other later comment that he may have had which he's not charged with that. That's my only concern. Will you address that for me from the State, Mr. Lyon?

THE STATE: I mean, honestly, this is something that we would have liked to address during the motion in limine. We talked to Mr. Bushell. He said he was fine with these calls. I mean, this is the first time I'm –

THE COURT: You're saying you're surprised?

THE STATE: This is the first time I'm hearing there's an objection. We provided these calls two weeks ago.

THE COURT: Well, you may have provided them. But whether they're provided or not, are you saying that he's missed some rule, some time limit. I mean, I have to rule at this point based on this objection when it's presented.

THE STATE: Well, then maybe we'd better take a –

THE COURT: [Inaudible] waived. Are you saying it's been waived?

THE STATE: No. Maybe we better just excuse the jury and play the call and let Your Honor decide.

COUNSEL: I wouldn't mind doing that.

THE COURT: Okay.

COUNSEL: I think we probably ought to – wait, before you go, I would like each of the calls played. I mean, they're all relatively short.

THE STATE: With the exception of those two calls on the 18<sup>th</sup>.

THE COURT: Well, let's talk about that outside the jury?

THE STATE: Okay.

SIDEBAR CONCLUDES.

THE COURT: Well, come back just one second?

THE COURT: How long is it going to take to hear this outside the presence of the jury?

THE STATE: I think most of the calls are pretty short.

THE COURT: I mean, how long?

THE STATE: Two or three, four, minutes. There's one that's about – no, probably ten or fifteen minutes.

THE COURT: What I'm talking about is whether we should adjourn. Is this a time to break for lunch or can we get this through fairly quickly and finish up with this?

COUNSEL: I think if we're going to listen to most of the clips, it's probably going to take us about ten minutes.

THE COURT: That's about noon. How long do you think with this witness beyond that?

THE STATE: It's about 15 minutes.

THE COURT: If I allow it. If I allow it.

THE STATE: It's probably about that much time. Another ten minutes and then –

THE COURT: We'll just take a break and try to determine if –

COUNSEL: And I won't have any questions.

THE COURT: We'll get through it quickly?

COUNSEL: Yeah.

SIDEBAR CONCLUDES.

THE COURT: We're going to recess at this time.

THE BAILIFF: All rise for the jury.

(JURY EXITS THE COURTROOM)

(R. 1158-63).

At that point, the prosecutor apparently experienced some type of illness (R. 1163:7-9). After a recess, the court – upon speaking with the prosecutor – decided to proceed (R. 1163-64). The following colloquy then occurred:

COUNSEL: Judge, before the jury comes, I made a motion at the bench to have these in-camera type of reviews.

THE COURT: We are on the record, correct?

COURT CLERK: We are.

MR. BUSHELL: At this point I'm going to withdraw that objection.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. BUSHELL: I think I've been able to fix the objection I had and so we can go forward as planned.

THE COURT: All right. So you are planning on playing some tapes without objection. Is that right?

MR. BUSHELL: Correct. And then I have some witnesses included on those tapes coming in to testify afterwards.

THE COURT: All right.

THE STATE: And just for the record, we have provided these calls to Mr. Bushell.

MR. BUSHELL: Uh-huh. Part of my objection was that I had anticipated this individual being called by the State to be here. So I had to follow up on that. But she is going to come.

THE COURT: All right.

(R. 1164:3-22).

The State, through Chief Webb, played recordings of various jail phone calls between Mr. Wilson and V.N. (R. 1164 *et seq.*). After playing the jail phone call recordings, the State rested (R. 1175:13).

The defense called V.N. as its only witness (R. 1175:20-22). V.N. testified that Mr. Wilson is “a very vivacious, motivated, a very unique individual.” (R. 1177:6-12). V.N. also described Mr. Wilson as “very put together and eloquent.” (*Id.* at 17-18). When asked if Mr. Wilson made any threats during the jail conversations, V.N. responded, “Nothing that I took serious.” (R. 1178:7-9).

After both sides rested, counsel agreed on the jury instructions (R. 1183:3-12). Upon deliberating, the jury returned the following verdict: guilty of attempted murder (Count 1); and guilty of obstruction of justice (Count 2) (R. 1058:17-22).<sup>3</sup> In addition, the jury found that Mr. Wilson used a dangerous weapon in the commission of the attempted murder (R. 1059:11-16). The court set the matter for sentencing (R. 1061:17-20).

#### D. *Sentencing and Appeal*

At sentencing on November 16, 2017, trial counsel asked the court to run the convictions concurrent (R. 1077:6-8). The State – in contrast – asked that the court sentence Mr. Wilson consecutively (R. 1079:14-15). Additionally, the State argued that the jail phone calls are “demonstrative of the defendant’s true character” (R. 1082:17-18).

---

<sup>3</sup>See Verdict (R. 245-46) and Special Verdict (R. 247), a true and correct copy of which is attached to this Brief as Addendum A.

The court imposed the following sentence:

Mr. Wilson the, as to the finding of guilt by the jury of attempted murder, which is a first-degree felony, the Court is sentencing you to serve a three year to life, indeterminate period in the Utah State Prison. I am enhancing that by one year due to the use of a dangerous weapon, and that is pursuant to Section 76-3-203.8 of the Utah Code.

As to your finding of guilt, the jury finding you guilty to obstructing justice as a second-degree felony, I am sentencing you also to serve an indeterminate period of one to fifteen years in the Utah State Prison. I am running that consecutive to the four years to life for the attempted murder and the enhancement.

(R. 1087:2-14). The Sentence, Judgment, Commitment was entered on November 16, 2017

(R. 972-73).<sup>4</sup> Mr. Wilson filed a timely Notice of Appeal on December 15, 2017 (R. 360-62).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

1. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to and request that the State be precluded from playing the jail calls between Mr. Wilson and V.N. for the jury's consideration. Notwithstanding portions of the jail phone call recordings that might be interpreted as reflecting Mr. Wilson's mental state at the time of the stabbing, the balance of the recordings were likely highly inflammatory in the eyes of the jury.

---

<sup>4</sup>See Sentence, Judgment, Commitment, R. 344-45, a true and correct copy of which is attached to this Brief as Addendum B.

Based on the statements made during the jail phone calls, it would be difficult to imagine expressions that would be more repulsive to the notion of the value of human life than those made by Mr. Wilson in the jail phone calls. The balance of the jail recordings contained little or no relevance to the central issues and any relevance that could be found therein was greatly and clearly outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, and misleading the jury. The overwhelming weight of this danger is underscored by the fact that the State had other evidence available to prove Mr. Wilson's state of mind and to rebut his defense of others argument.

Trial counsel's failure to ultimately pursue an objection and request that the State be precluded from playing the recordings for the jury's consideration constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. Trial counsel had ample opportunity to determine that the prejudicial content of the jail recordings were in direct conflict with the primary defense theory that the stabbing occurred in the defense of others. Under the circumstances, reasonable trial counsel would have objected and moved to preclude the recordings from being heard and considered by the jury. There is no reasonable trial strategy that could explain trial counsel's performance in failing to object and request that the State be precluded from playing the recordings.

Trial counsel essentially promised the jury a presentation of evidence that would demonstrate Mr. Wilson's statements made in the jail recordings "are absolutely not true." However, trial counsel failed to present any evidence that addressed Mr. Wilson's



callousness towards the stabbing, lack of remorse for the victims, or his repulsive treatment of V.N., a nonparty to the proceedings. Moreover, counsel never presented any evidence to disprove Mr. Wilson's statement that he needed to make up a good defense.

If trial counsel had objected and moved to preclude the State from playing the jail phone call recordings for the jury, the court – in light of the *Maurer* decision – would have precluded the recordings from being considered by the jury. Further, trial counsel's failure to object and request that the recordings be precluded from the jury's consideration, substantially – if not totally – undermined the primary defense theory at trial.

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