2017

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Jacquan David Wilson,
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I(a). Defendant argues that his counsel was ineffective for withdrawing an unfair-prejudice objection to the jail-clip evidence. His claim fails because competent counsel could reasonably conclude the objection was unlikely to succeed. Indeed, counsel could conclude that Defendant’s discussions of the stabbing in the jail recordings were highly probative of his mental state at the time of the stabbing, and that the danger

³ To the extent Defendant suggests that the jail recordings played at sentencing were the same as those played at trial, the suggestion is unsupported. While there is some overlap, the jail recordings played at trial were snippets taken from the extended versions played at sentencing. *See State v. Boyle*, 2019 UT App 28, ¶27 n.4, 440 P.3d 720 (recognizing evidence inadmissible at trial may be admissible at sentencing). And the last call played at sentencing was not made or recorded until the day before sentencing and thus could not have been played at trial. *See* R1083.

of any unfair prejudice was, consequently, unlikely to substantially outweigh the evidence's high probative value. Moreover, by the time the jail recordings were played, jurors had already heard Donte testify using the same kind of language Defendant used in the jail recordings. And this Court has repeatedly recognized that language like that used by both Donte and Defendant no longer has the "shock value" it once did.

In any event, Defendant's ineffectiveness claim fails for lack of prejudice. First, as shown, Defendant fails to show any reasonable likelihood that a rule 403 objection would have succeeded in excluding the jail-clip evidence. Moreover, the State's evidence was strong even without the jail-clip evidence. Donte described Defendant assaulting him from behind, stabbing him four times in the back, once in the arm and once in the face. Defendant's continued stabbing refuted his claim that he was merely trying to neutralize a threat. And while Defendant told Russell that he stabbed Donte to protect his girlfriend, he did not tell anyone else that, including the police. Rather, Defendant told Amanda that he stabbed Donte because Donte pushed him first. And he admitted to police that he had not seen Donte with a weapon, and that all Donte had done was push him. Finally, Defendant's conduct in fleeing the scene, evading the police for two days, demanding that Tia not talk to police and delete his text messages, and disposing of the knife

and his bloody clothing, among other things, all demonstrated an intent to kill Donte, not to protect Tia.

Point I(b). Defendant also claims that his counsel was ineffective for referencing the jail-clip evidence in opening statement and expressing his “hope” the defense could show that Defendant was just trying to “puff himself up” or that Defendant said “things” in the recordings that “are absolutely not true” to bolster his reputation while in jail. Defendant claims that counsel “essentially promised” to put on direct evidence to refute the truthfulness of Defendant’s statements in the jail recordings that counsel then did not present. But counsel never promised anything, let alone, to put on direct evidence that would refute the truthfulness of Defendant’s statements. The most the record reasonably supports is that counsel “hope[d]” to show the jury that Defendant’s statements were “absolutely not true” only in the sense that they did not reflect the real Defendant. And counsel effectively realized his “hope” because, as counsel argued in closing, other than Donte and the police, the State’s witnesses did not view Defendant as the “monster” the prosecutors painted him to be. Defendant thus fails to show that counsel performed deficiently in opening statement.

At any rate, this claim also fails for lack of prejudice, given the strength of the evidence against Defendant, including his incriminating statements in the jail clips.

Point II. Defendant asserts that his counsel was ineffective for not requesting a lesser-included-offense instruction on attempted manslaughter. But Defendant makes no attempt to show that the chivalrous-protector or defense-of-others strategy counsel actually employed was objectively unreasonable. Moreover, competent counsel could reasonably conclude that a chivalrous-protector defense was a viable defense—if not the most viable defense on this record.

In any event, as with his other ineffectiveness claims, this claim also fails for lack of prejudice. Given the strength of the evidence supporting an attempt to kill Donte, the same jury that rejected Defendant's chivalrous-protector defense was just as likely—if not more so—to reject a jealous-lover or attempted-manslaughter defense.

ARGUMENT

I.

Defendant has not overcome the strong presumption that his counsel performed effectively in withdrawing an unfair-prejudice objection to the jail-recording evidence or in addressing the jail recordings in opening statement.

While awaiting trial in jail, Defendant had multiple recorded phone conversations with Victoria about the stabbing wherein he made inculpatory statements, frequently using coarse language. *See* SR1-37 (SE53-57, & 62-68). The State prepared clips from those calls for use at trial.

Both sides referenced the jail clips in their opening statements. *See* R611,613,620,622. Defense counsel cautioned the jury that they may dislike Defendant's language, but that he "hope[d]" to show that Defendant, who was in jail at the time, was "just trying to puff himself up," and said "things" that "are absolutely not true in order to make himself seem tougher and better and bigger than what he is really is." R622.

Before the jail clips were played for the jury, however, and after learning that the State would not call Victoria to testify, defense counsel objected to the evidence on the basis that it would be unduly prejudicial. R1159-63. But counsel withdrew the objection after confirming that Victoria would testify for the defense: "I think I've been able to fix the objection I had and so we can go forward as planned." R1164.

Defendant now asserts two claims of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the jail-clip evidence: He first argues that defense counsel was ineffective for withdrawing an unfair-prejudice objection to the evidence. Aplt.Br.18-40. Defendant argues the objection would have succeeded because the content of the jail-clips evidence was—on “balance”—unfairly prejudicial and thus inadmissible under rule 403, Utah Rules of Evidence. Aplt.Br.30-33.

Defendant next argues that his counsel was ineffective for referencing the jail clips in opening statement because counsel allegedly, “essentially promised” to put on “evidence that would demonstrate [Defendant’s] statements made in the jail recordings ‘are absolutely not true,’” and then failed to present the allegedly promised evidence. Aplt.Br.33-35. The allegedly unfulfilled promise, Defendant posits, “may well have” caused jurors to draw adverse inferences and question defense counsel’s “credibility.” Aplt.Br.37.

Defendant’s ineffectiveness claims fail because he cannot prove either deficient performance or prejudice.

To prove ineffective assistance, Defendant “has the difficult burden” of proving both that his counsel performed deficiently and that he was prejudiced. *State v. Tyler*, 850 P.2d 1250, 1259 (Utah 1993); *see also Strickland*

v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 690, 694 (1984). This is “never an easy task.” *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 371 (2010). Defendant must make “both showings.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-89.

Deficient performance requires Defendant to prove that his counsel acted unreasonably. To meet that burden, he must overcome “a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-89. And “counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance.” *Id.* at 690. This high standard is rooted in the recognition that there “are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case,” and that “[e]ven the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.” *Id.* at 689. Accordingly, in reviewing counsel’s performance, “every effort” must “be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time.” *Id.* at 689. The determinative question under *Strickland*, then, “is not whether counsel’s choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable.” *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481 (2000). “The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (per curiam); accord

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Counsel’s performance is objectively reasonable under *Strickland* unless the defendant can prove that “no competent attorney” would have proceeded as his attorney did. *Premo v. Moore*, 562 U.S. 115, 124 (2011); accord *State v. Coombs*, 2019 UT App 7, ¶20, 438 P.3d 967 (same).

A. Competent counsel could reasonably conclude that a rule 403 objection was unlikely to succeed.

Defendant argues that his counsel was ineffective for withdrawing an unfair-prejudice objection to the jail-clip evidence because the “balance” of the evidence showed Defendant’s “state of mind” only “at the time the calls were made,” as opposed to the time of the stabbing. Aplt.Br.30. In support, Defendant cites the following excerpts from the jail-clip evidence:

... I’m not Donte, I don’t call the cops to help me out with shit. I handle shit like a man, on my own. People ... fuck with me, I eliminate them real quick. It’s over and done with. ...

R1166-67; SR3; compare Aplt.Br.24 (citing SE53);

... I’m going to play it cool, like, you know what I’m saying and I can’t do too much talking, but I have no problem taking somebody’s life, at all. So that’s not a big deal to me, it really isn’t. ...

R1167; SR4; compare Aplt.Br.24 (citing SE54);

... I gotta think of a good reason as to why my life was in danger. ... Because, obviously, my story, me telling the truth doesn’t sound believable.

R1169; SR6; compare Aplt.Br.25 (citing SE63);

... You ain't playing; you getting played. I'm like whatever. So I'm not even tripping off of it and if he tries something, I'm going to put this nigger in the hospital, I don't care. So that's how I'm laughing. ...

R1172: SR8-25; *compare* Aplt.Br.25 (citing SE64);

I'm not him, I don't go on Facebook and portray something I'm not. I really put niggers down y'all. I really—I really have the capacity to kill somebody, understand? And think nothing of it.

R1171; SR8; *compare* Aplt.Br.25 (citing SE56-57);⁴

Just talking all greesy (sic) like—like he some type of stupid gangster-ass nigger like—like whatever.

So I'm already in my mind, like okay, well, don't think you about to, like, fuck me up because I ain't going to let that happen. And so I'm, like—I'm like 'Yo, let's go over to his house right now.'

Tia's dumb ass says, 'We're on our way to your house right now,' da-da-da-da.

I'm like, 'Bitch, why would you tell him that?' We already know by his tone and demeanor that he wants confrontation. You see what I'm saying? I'm hoping that I can just drop off the shit because I know—I already know how I am. If he touch (sic) me, I'm going to try to kill him. You see what I'm saying?

R1171-72; SR27; *compare* Aplt.Br.25 (citing SE65).

... And he's trying to act like I was a coward because he got stabbed in the back. Okay. So if you hit me and push me and turn your back to me when I attack you that's your fault—that's your fault. If you would have kept facing me, I would have

⁴ Defendant cites both State's Exhibits 56 & 57, but the excerpt is in only State's Exhibit 57.

stabbed you in the fucking—well, I did stab him in the face. I mean, what do you—what more do you want?

R1172; SR29; *compare* Aplt.Br.26 (citing SE66);

If somebody stabbed me, I'd kill them. That's it. Serious. All he did was push me and I stabbed him up. ... All he did was push me and hit me and he got stabbed the fuck up. Because you think it's the [inaudible]. Because I'm educated and I talk—you know, I talk this way, so I'm soft. Get the fuck out of here. ...

... I do feel as though I used a little too much force—...

R1172; SR29-30; *compare* Aplt.Br.29-30 (citing SE67).⁵

Defendant protests that the jail clips showed his “callousness” to the stabbing because he expresses himself in “profane and vulgar language,” and because of the “repulsiveness of his expressions toward” both Donte and Victoria.⁶ Aplt.Br.30. Consequently, Defendant argues, the jail recordings were largely irrelevant to the issue of his mental state when he stabbed Donte—and to the extent they were relevant—any probative value was “greatly and clearly outweighed” by the danger of unfair prejudice because the recordings are laced with “obscenities, ethnic slurs, and otherwise coarse

⁵ As clarified by the Supplemental Record—SR1-30, Defendant's brief is over inclusive of the jail clips played for the jury in State's Exhibits 66 and 67. *See* Aplt.Br.26-30. Of the clips quoted in Defendant's brief, only the above quoted portions were in fact played for the jury. *See* SR29-30.

⁶ As it turns out, the jury did not hear Defendant's alleged “vulgar” “expressions toward” Victoria. *See* n.5, above.

language, warped and suffused with an aura of nonspecific criminality.’” Aplt.Br.33 (quoting *State v. Maurer*, 770 P.2d 981, 985 (1989)); see also Aplt.Br.31,35. Defendant thus broadly concludes that there “is no reasonable trial strategy that could explain trial counsel’s performance in failing to object” to the jail recordings, and that “[t]here was only an upside in the preclusion of the repulsive statements particularly when the primary defense theory was the defense of others.” Aplt.Br.33 (citing *State v. Barela*, 2015 UT 22, ¶¶25-30, 349 P.3d 676).⁷

⁷ To the extent *Barela* supports that counsel may be deficient for not making an objection where “[t]here is only upside” in doing so, 2015 UT 22, ¶¶27, it conflicts with established *Strickland* analysis. As shown, the measure of deficient performance is not whether there was a reasonable trial strategy or tactical advantage for counsel’s act or omission in any given case. Rather, the real question is whether an alleged error is so obvious, and its potential for prejudice so great, that counsel’s failure to act is objectively unreasonable. See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. The United States Supreme Court “has never established anything akin to the ... ‘nothing to lose’ standard for evaluating *Strickland* claims.” *Knowles v. Mirzayance*, 556 U.S. 111, 122 (2009); accord *State v. Houston*, 2015 UT 40, ¶¶76, 353 P.3d 55 (noting that when a defendant claims his counsel was ineffective for not objecting to prosecutor’s closing argument, “the question is ‘not whether the prosecutor’s comments were proper, but whether they were so improper that counsel’s only defensible choice was to interrupt those comments with an objection’” (quoting *Bussard v. Lockhart*, 32 F.3d 322, 324 (8th Cir. 1994) (emphasis added))). In any event, two cases involving the parameters of *Strickland* analysis are pending before the Utah Supreme Court. See *State v. Scott*, Case No. 20170518-SC, and *State v. Ray*, Case No. 20170524-SC, both argued 11 April 2018.

Defendant's ineffectiveness claim fails because he has not shown – and cannot show – that a rule 403 objection was so unassailable that “no competent attorney” would have decided to withdraw it. *See Premo*, 562 U.S. at 124; *Coombs*, 2019 UT App 7, ¶20.

Evidence is presumptively admissible under rule 403 and excludable only when its probative value is “substantially outweighed” by a danger of unfair prejudice. Utah R. Evid. 403. Rule 403 thus “imposes ... the heavy burden not only to show that the risk of unfair prejudice is greater than the probative value, but that it ‘substantially outweighs’ the probative value.” *State v. Thompson*, 2017 UT App 183, ¶26 (quoting *State v. Jones*, 2015 UT 19, ¶29, 345 P.3d 1195). And “unfair prejudice results only where the evidence has an undue tendency to suggest decision upon an improper basis.” *State v. Lucero*, 2014 UT 15, ¶32, 328 P.3d 841 (cleaned up), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Thornton*, 2017 UT 9, 391 P.3d 1016. “Given this bar,” Utah courts “indulge a presumption in favor of admissibility.” *Id.*; *see also State v. Johnson*, 2016 UT App 223, ¶35, 387 P.3d 1048 (same). Rule 403 is therefore, “at its heart, a balancing test.” *Thompson*, 2017 UT App 183, ¶27.

To succeed on a rule 403 objection, then, counsel would have had to show that the jail clips' probative value was “substantially outweighed by a danger of ... unfair prejudice.” Utah R. Evid. 403. But Defendant takes no

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